ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2017

CERTIORARI TO PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Guilty Plea Judge
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000756

Brandon Garren

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

RUSTON W. NEELY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar #100192

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2017

CERTIORARI TO PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding Respondent was entitled to a new trial because Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving either that plea counsel was ineffective in not requesting a psychological evaluation and that he suffered any resulting prejudice?
2. Did the PCR judge err in finding Respondent was entitled to a new trial because Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving his guilty plea was involuntary?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Respondent at the December 2012 term of General Sessions for attempted murder (2012-GS-39-2677). Respondent waived presentment to the Grand Jury for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN) (2012-GS-39-0311). App. pp.77-80; 82-84. Frank Eppes, Esquire represented Respondent.

On January 31, 2013, Respondent pled guilty to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN). The assistant solicitor recited the facts of the two charges, which he described at the outset as “really kind of rough.” App. p.24. As to the CDVHAN charge on January 20, 2012, police responded to the scene and Respondent was screaming at the victim. Respondent had a pistol in his pocket. The victim “said that she knew [Respondent] was going to kill her.” The victim had “visible injuries to her face” and said Respondent repeatedly struck her, swung an ax at her head, and pointed a gun at her.¹ App. p.24-25. As to the ABHAN charge on June 29, 2012, police responded to the scene because neighbors reported hearing the victim screaming. This victim is the same victim as in the prior CDVHAN charge. The victim was in a state of undress and her face was severely beaten.² The victim stated the assault occurred over 24 hours and Respondent threatened her if she tried to leave, struck her with several objects, and forced drugs down her throat. Respondent fled the scene and was later found after he overdosed. App. p.25-27.

¹ Police found both the ax and the hole in the wall where the victim said the ax hit when it was

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin sentenced Respondent to concurrent sentences of 15 years for the lesser offense ABHAN and 10 years for CDVHAN. App. pp.33; 77; 81). Respondent did not appeal.

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on November 4, 2013 (2013-CP-39-1380). App. pp.35-45. A hearing was held at the Pickens County Courthouse on December 15, 2014. App. pp.52-70. Respondent was present and represented by R. Mills Ariail, Jr., Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented the State. In an order filed March 12, 2015, the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. granted post-conviction relief and ordered a new trial. App. pp.72-76.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

² The victim was found to have several broken bones in her face. App. p.26.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent was entitled to a new trial because Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel was ineffective for not requesting a psychological evaluation and Respondent was prejudiced by the lack of said evaluation.**

A. Standard of Proof

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove that counsel's representation was below the standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59, 106 S. Ct. 366, 370 (1985); Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

B. Guilty Plea

At the guilty plea hearing, the plea judge advised Respondent of the sentences he was facing and Respondent said he understood. App. p.7. Respondent stated he had discussed the charges with his attorney and that he was "most satisfied" with his attorney's representation. App. p.8-9. Respondent stated he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty pleas. App. p.10. Respondent waived his

right to trial and stated he was guilty. App. p.10-13. The assistant solicitor noted there was no plea recommendation in Respondent's case. App. p.24, 27.

Plea counsel stated "my client obviously has some mental problems. He has very little memory of this period of time. He informs me that both of them take pills. He self-medicates for a variety of abnormalities." App. p.31. Plea counsel went on to describe Respondent's blood disease and also relayed that he had discussed possible defenses with Respondent. App. pp.31-32. Plea counsel stated Respondent "wants to get this behind him." App. p.32. Respondent's mother referred to his "numerous health problems" and wanted "to try to help him with drug rehab. It was prescription drugs." App. p.32. While plea counsel requested a split sentence with a 3-5 year active sentence and probation, the plea judge stated "[t]his case is beyond [the] pale" and sentenced him to 15 years. App. p.33.

C. PCR Hearing

At the PCR hearing, Respondent stated he was incarcerated for 6 months before he pled guilty and met with plea counsel 2-3 times. App. p.56. Respondent stated he believed his mother requested he receive a mental evaluation. App. p.57.

Plea counsel testified he visited Respondent at the jail, and they reviewed the elements of the charges, the content of the discovery materials, and Respondent's version of events. App. pp.63-64. He testified the photographs "were fairly devastating to the case. The alleged victim was beat up pretty badly." App. p.64. During the course of his representation, plea counsel did not see the need for Respondent to have a competency evaluation. App. p.65. Plea counsel testified Respondent did not inform him of any prior

mental health treatment or history. App. p.66. In retrospect, plea counsel wished he had Respondent undergo a psychological evaluation for mitigation purposes. App.p.66; 67.

In granting Respondent's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Respondent "met his burden of proving trial counsel should have requested that [Respondent] have a psychological evaluation before [Respondent] plead guilty. . . ." The PCR judge also found Respondent demonstrated prejudice "by showing that he did not understand the specifics of his guilty plea because of his mental incapacity." App. p.74-75.

D. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving he was prejudiced by not receiving an evaluation prior to the guilty plea hearing. Plea counsel testified he wished – in retrospect – that he had Respondent undergo a psychological evaluation for mitigation purposes. App. pp.66; 67. Plea counsel never testified he believed an evaluation was necessary for competency purposes. In fact, plea counsel testified there were no issues with Respondent's competency. App. p.66. As such, the PCR judge erred in finding Respondent demonstrated prejudice "by showing that he did not understand the specifics of his guilty plea because of his mental incapacity." There is no probative evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Respondent should have been evaluated for competency. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

Respondent also failed to establish prejudice. Respondent did not meet his burden of proving the outcome of his case would have been different if he had received an evaluation. To sustain a claim that plea counsel was ineffective for failing to request

competency hearing, the PCR applicant must show reasonable probability that he would have been found incompetent. Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 233, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1992). Respondent failed to demonstrate there was a reasonable probability either he would have (1) been found incompetent or (2) presented the evaluation as mitigation evidence and received a different sentence from the plea judge. Respondent failed to meet this burden of proof because he did not present a psychological evaluation at the PCR hearing. This Court has repeatedly held that, without such, his claim of prejudice is purely speculative. In Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 657 S.E.2d 771 (2008), the defendant alleged his trial attorney should have retained an expert witness to assist in countering the State's allegation that he was sexually abused a child. The defendant, however, did not present an expert witness at his PCR hearing. This Court concluded that, as the defendant failed to present any expert testimony at the PCR hearing to support his claim, "it is merely speculative that these allegedly favorable expert witnesses would have aided in his defense." Id. at 530, 657 S.E.2d at 777 (citing Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 370, 610 S.E.2d 812, 815 (2005) ("A PCR applicant cannot show that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to call a favorable witness to testify at trial if that witness does not later testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence."))).

Respondent failed to introduce evidence of a psychological evaluation at the PCR hearing. Therefore, there is no probative evidence in the record to support his argument that the proposed evaluation would have made an impact on his case. As such, the PCR judge's finding that Respondent demonstrated prejudice without a psychological evaluation and testimony is wholly speculative and there is no probative evidence to

support this finding. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626

The PCR judge also erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving plea counsel was deficient. Respondent failed to prove plea counsel erred in not requesting Respondent undergo a psychological evaluation. Respondent presented no testimony or evidence that – at the time of the guilty plea hearing – he was not competent to plead guilty to these charges. Plea counsel testified he did not see the need for a competency evaluation and Respondent did not inform him of any prior mental health treatment or history. App. pp.65-66. Plea counsel specifically testified he believed Respondent was competent at the time of the plea “and I continue to believe he is competent.” App. p.66. As such, plea counsel cannot be found deficient for failing to request a competency evaluation. See, e.g., Lee v. State, 396 S.C. 314, 721 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding plea counsel cannot be found deficient if she has no indication of the defendant’s mental health history).

Furthermore, the record clearly reflects plea counsel’s testimony that he wished he had retained a psychological evaluation for mitigation purposes was based upon his reflection after the guilty plea hearing. Plea counsel testified “[t]his case has been one that bothered me since [Respondent] got his sentence” and “as I racked my brain about this case – and I think about it from time to time, because he has a great family. I have thought many times I really wish that we had taken the time to get a psychological evaluation.” App. pp.65-66. Plea counsel also prefaced some of his comments with “as I go back and look at the case.” App. p.67. Plea counsel’s testimony was entirely the result of his rumination on the case after Respondent received his sentence. Plea counsel’s

reflection does not amount to a finding of deficiency. See, e.g., McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (noting attorney “reflection after the fact is irrelevant to the question of ineffective assistance of counsel”); Wright v. Hooper, 169 F.3d 695, 707 (11th Cir. 1999) (noting that ineffectiveness is an issue decided by the courts and that “admissions of deficient performance by attorneys are not decisive”). Allowing the determination of prejudice to rest upon trial counsel’s admissions or beliefs removes the two-prong Strickland analysis away from the courts and allows for self-serving hindsight to determine whether counsel’s performance was prejudicial. See Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032, 1040 (9th Cir. 1995) (“What decision [counsel] may have made if he had more information at the time is exactly the sort of Monday-morning quarterbacking the contemporary assessment rule forbids. It is meaningless, after more than a decade, for [counsel] now to claim that he would have done things differently if only he had more information. With more information, Benjamin Franklin might have invented television.”). There is no probative evidence to support the PCR judge’s finding that plea counsel was deficient. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

Accordingly, Respondent failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that plea counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Respondent also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by plea counsel’s performance. As Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of plea counsel, the PCR judge erred in granting Respondent’s application for post-conviction relief. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to

prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

II. The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent was entitled to a new trial because Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving his guilty plea was involuntary.

A. Standard of Review

To be knowing and voluntary, a plea must be entered with a full understanding of the charges and the consequences of the plea. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-44, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 1712 (1969). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001) (citations omitted). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual, a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 97 S.Ct. 1621, 52 L.Ed.2d 136 (1977). When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 657 (2000) (citation omitted).

B. PCR Hearing

At the PCR hearing, Respondent stated he did not understand what he was doing on the day he pled guilty to these charges. App. pp.57-58. In stark contrast, plea counsel testified Respondent appeared “to be following what was happening” at the plea hearing

and never said he did not understand the proceedings. App. p.67. Plea counsel testified his “perception, at the time, was that [Respondent] understood what was going on.” App. p.67. Respondent’s responses at the guilty plea support plea counsel’s assertions at the PCR hearing. He stated to the plea judge that he was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol. App. p.9. In granting Respondent’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Respondent “was under the influence of medication which affected his ability to understand what he was doing on the day of his plea. [Respondent] can demonstrate prejudice in this regard by showing that . . . he would not have pled guilty if he was not under the influence of medication at the time of his plea.” App. p.75.

C. Involuntary Guilty Plea

In order to prove his guilty pleas to these charges were involuntary, Respondent had the burden of proving plea counsel was ineffective. See Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. at 20, 546 S.E.2d at 419. Respondent failed to meet this burden. While the PCR judge found Respondent was “under the influence of medication which affected his ability to understand” the plea proceedings, this finding is not supported by the record. At the guilty plea hearing, Respondent stated he was not under the influence of drugs. App. pp.9-10. While plea counsel stated at the PCR hearing that Respondent “always appears a little bit spacey and out of it to me” he testified Respondent appeared to follow along with and understand the proceedings and never indicated he did not understand. App. pp.66-67. There was no indication Respondent did not comprehend the plea hearing because of his medication. Plea counsel’s decision to go forward with the plea was reasonable and not deficient based on what he knew at the time of the plea. See Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066 (holding “a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel’s challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel’s conduct”). There is no probative evidence, therefore, that Respondent either entered his guilty pleas involuntarily or that plea counsel would have been aware of such. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent demonstrated he was prejudiced because he would not have pled guilty if he had not been allegedly “under the influence of medication at the time of his plea.” Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving that he was on medication the day he pled guilty or that he suffered side effects from any medication. Respondent failed to provide a list of medications he was allegedly taking on the day of the guilty plea hearing or any expert testimony as to the effect of such medications. Without this information, it is speculative to conclude that Respondent was taking prescription medication or that such prescription medication diminished his ability to understand the guilty plea proceedings. See, e.g., Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. at 370, 610 S.E.2d at 815 (finding that, as the applicant failed to have an expert testify at the evidentiary hearing, “any finding of prejudice is merely speculative”).

Plea counsel specifically testified he believed Respondent was competent at the time of the plea and continued to believe he was competent. App. p.66. Plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he believed Respondent understood the proceedings at his guilty plea hearing. App. p.68. Plea counsel testified he did not see the need for a competency evaluation and Respondent did not inform him of any prior mental health

treatment or history. App. p.65-66. As such, plea counsel cannot be found deficient for failing to request a competency evaluation.

Respondent bears the burden of proving his claims by competent evidence. See Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). He failed to do so. Statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Edmonds v. Lewis, 546 F.2d 566 (4th Cir. 1976). Respondent presented no probative evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Respondent was under the influence of medication and prejudiced by the influence of that medication when he pled guilty. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

Accordingly, Respondent failed to prove his guilty plea was involuntary and that plea counsel's representation was ineffective. See Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. at 20, 546 S.E.2d at 419. As Respondent failed to meet his burden of proof, the PCR judge erred in granting Respondent's application for post-conviction relief. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and reverse the lower court's ruling. If this Court grants certiorari, the State asks permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.