STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

 ORIGINAL

—————
Certiorari to Pickens County

RECEIVED

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

MAY 11 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

BRANDON GARREN,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000756

—————
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
—————

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Pickens County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

BRANDON GARREN,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ISSUES PRESENTED

PETITIONER'S QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Did the PCR judge err in finding respondent was entitled to a new trial because respondent failed to meet his burden of proving either that plea counsel was ineffective in not requesting a psychological evaluation or that he suffered any resulting prejudice?

2.

Did the PCR judge err in finding respondent was entitled to a new trial because respondent failed to meet his burden of proving his guilty plea was involuntary?

RESPONDENT'S COUNTER-QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether any evidence supports the trial judge's finding that plea counsel performed deficiently in failing to request a competency examination?

2.

Whether any evidence supports the PCR judge's finding that Respondent's guilty plea was involuntary because respondent was under the influence of medication, he demonstrated he did not understand the effect of his plea, and plea counsel failed to have a psychological evaluation conducted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 11, 2012, a Pickens County grand jury indicted respondent for attempted murder and domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. App. 78-82. On January 31, 2013, respondent pled guilty to CDVHAN and ABHAN before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. App. 1-2. App. 7, l. 11 - 8, l. 13. App. 13, ll. 5 – 6. Respondent pled guilty in a hearing along with five other defendants whose charges were unrelated to respondent's charges. App. 1 – 2. Frank Eppes represented respondent and two other defendants at the hearing. App. 2. Sam Tooker represented the State. App. 2. Judge Verdin sentenced respondent to concurrent terms of fifteen years' imprisonment for ABHAN and ten years' imprisonment for CDVHAN. App. 33, ll. 11 – 14. App. 87-88.

On November 4, 2013, respondent filed a PCR application. App. 35. On December 15, 2014, a hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. App. 52. R. Mills Ariail, Jr. represented respondent. App. 52. Karen C. Ratigan represented the State. App. 52. On March 12, 2015, Judge Griffith granted respondent a new trial. App. 72. On November 9, 2016, this Court granted the State's petition for certiorari.

ARGUMENT

1.

Ample evidence supports the trial judge's finding that plea counsel performed deficiently in failing to request a competency examination.

The PCR court ruled that respondent, Brandon Garren ("Garren") "did not understand the specifics of his guilty plea because of his mental incapacity and that he would not have pled guilty if he was not under the influence of medication at the time of his plea." App. 75. The PCR court found that respondent "met his burden proving that trial counsel should have requested that Applicant have a psychological evaluation before Applicant plead guilty and that applicant was under the influence of medication which affected his ability to understand what he was doing on the day of his plea." App. 75. Ample evidence supports these conclusions and findings.

"In reviewing a PCR court's decision, this Court will uphold the PCR court's findings if there is any evidence of probative value to support them." Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). Garren's testimony and plea counsel's testimony both support the PCR court's determination that plea counsel performed deficiently in failing to order a competency evaluation.

Garren pled guilty at a plea hearing with multiple defendants. App. 1-2. Plea counsel represented two other defendants at the hearing. App. 2. Plea counsel's other two clients' charges were unrelated to Garren's charges. App. 13, ll. 11 – 23. App. 21, l. 5 – 22, l. 17. At the PCR hearing, Garren testified that the medication given him at the jail caused him not to understand the proceedings. App. 57, l. 6 – 58, l. 11. Statements made during the plea colloquy corroborate Garren's PCR testimony. Garren failed to respond when Judge Verdin asked him if he understood that his offenses were classified as violent. App. 7, ll. 18 – 22. He again failed to

respond when the court asked him if he knew he was giving up his right to remain silent. App. 11, ll. 10 – 14. These two failures to respond were despite respondent being the last in line to answer questions and being able to hear the responses from the other defendants. App. 6, l. 3 – 7, l. 25. App. 10, l. 22 – 11, l. 14. Garren heard five other defendants respond “Yes, ma’am” and still failed to respond. App. 6, l. 3 – 7, l. 25. App. 10, l. 22 – 11, l. 14.

When the court finished with the other five defendants and turned to Garren, plea counsel had to call to him and tell him where to stand. App. 24, ll. 10 – 15. The complainant’s brother told the court that at one point, Garren believed he was the Apostle Paul. App. 28, ll. 17 – 23. Plea counsel told the court that Garren “obviously has some mental problems.” App. 31, ll. 12 – 17. He further stated:

[Garren] also has a disease that the detention center could confirm where iron builds up in his blood. He literally has to have a pint of blood taken from him between every two weeks and every month. Since he’s gotten into the detention center and gotten off pills, he tells me he’s gained 46 pounds. He’s gained 46 pounds.

App. 31, ll. 18 – 24.

At the PCR hearing, plea counsel elaborated: “[Garren] had extensive health problems that went to his mental health going back a decade or more. He had some kind of vitamin deficiency that really affects his ability to do everything.” App. 66, ll. 19 – 22. Garren’s mother told Judge Verdin, “My son has got numerous health problems. He needs medical help, which he’s getting some of at the LEC.” App. 32, ll. 14 – 16. Garren’s mother said he had “a team of doctors.” App. 32, ll. 18 – 22. Garren testified:

I don’t know what kind of medication they was giving me in the county. But they have a way of giving medication that’s—they have a bunch of little glasses on a tray. And they just give you medicine. I don’t know if they give me the wrong medicine or what they done. But I had a reaction two different times to that medicine they give me.

App. 57, ll. 6 – 17.

The above evidence amply supports the PCR court’s finding that plea counsel performed deficiently in not requesting a psychological evaluation. App. 74-75. “Once a PCR applicant has established his counsel was deficient in failing to obtain a mental competency evaluation, he is entitled to relief if he demonstrates a reasonable probability that he was incompetent at the time he pled guilty.” Ramirez v. State, 419 S.C. 14, 22, 795 S.E.2d 841, 845 (2017). The State’s argument focuses solely on plea counsel’s testimony at the PCR hearing that he believed Garren was competent, but ignores the other evidence in the record that supports the PCR court’s findings. The PCR court credited Garren’s testimony that he was on medication and incapable of understanding what occurred at the plea hearing. The State’s argument seems to assume that a PCR court errs when it credits the testimony of an applicant. Garren’s testimony—which was corroborated by plea counsel’s recitation of his health problems both at the plea hearing and at the PCR hearing—satisfies the “any evidence of probative value” standard. Furthermore, plea counsel’s testimony at the PCR hearing shows that he was on notice of Garren’s long history of mental health problems and still failed to have him evaluated.

Every criminal defendant has the right to be present at his trial, and this right includes the right to be mentally present. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI, XIV. The conviction of an accused person while he is incompetent violates due process. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966). In Sanders v. United States, 373 U.S. 1, 5 (1963), the defendant alleged that his guilty plea was involuntary because of narcotics administered at the jail. During the guilty plea, the defendant asked the judge to send him to a specific prison “for addiction cure” and that he had “been using narcotics off and on for quite a while.” Id. at 4. The habeas judge denied relief without a hearing and the United States Supreme Court reversed. Id. at 19 – 23.

The Sanders Court noted that “[w]hether or not petitioner was under the influence of narcotics would not necessarily have been apparent to the trial judge.” Id. at 20. “However regular the proceedings at which he signed a waiver of indictment, declined assistance of counsel, and pleaded guilty might appear from the transcript, it still might be the case that petitioner did not make an intelligent and understanding waiver of his constitutional rights.” Id. at 19-20. See also Hansford v. United States, 365 F.2d 920, 924 (D.C. Cir. 1966) (“This reasoning applies with particular force to a defendant who may be under the influence of narcotics, since the symptoms and effects of an acute brain syndrome produced by narcotics will often not be apparent to a lay observer, even a judge, but only to an expert.”).

Precisely for the point made in Sanders—that mental issues and intoxication are not easy to spot—the PCR judge correctly found that plea counsel should have ordered a psychological evaluation. Plea counsel admitted as much when he observed that Garren’s “affect is to this day so much different than my typical client that I have real concerns that I made a mistake.” App. 68, l. 13 – 69, l. 2. With a client whose affect stood out from the multitude of defendants the very experienced plea counsel has represented, not having an expert evaluate Garren’s mental status and the effect of his medication was indeed a mistake. The PCR judge also had an opportunity to observe Garren at the hearing. The PCR judge’s ability to observe Garren and his crediting of plea counsel’s testimony on this point are entitled to deference.

Much like the Government in Sanders, the State points to the plea hearing as evidence that Garren’s plea was voluntary. The Sanders Court rejected this argument. In this case, the PCR court also rejected this argument in crediting Garren’s testimony about the circumstances of his plea. Just like in Sanders, there was evidence at the plea hearing that Garren was medicated. Much like the defendant in Sanders requested an “addiction cure,” in this case plea counsel told the court at the

plea about Garren's rare blood disease that had been confirmed by the jail. Because sufficient evidence supports the PCR judge's finding that Garren should have been evaluated and trial counsel performed deficiently, under the rule of Ramirez, the PCR court correctly granted relief. This Court should affirm.

2.

Ample evidence supports the PCR judge's finding that Respondent's guilty plea was involuntary because respondent was under the influence of medication, he demonstrated he did not understand the effect of his plea and plea counsel failed to have a psychological evaluation conducted.

As detailed above, substantial evidence supports the PCR judge's conclusion that respondent's guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary. The proper standard of review of a PCR court's order is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to support the court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). "This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR court when there is any evidence of probative value to support them, and will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

"The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). "Defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, a right that extends to the plea-bargaining process." Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1384 (2012).

"Entering a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently

by defendants.” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). “Specifically, a defendant must be aware of the privilege against self-incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront one’s accusers.” Id. A defendant must also “be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” Id.

The PCR court ruled that Garren “was under the influence of medication which affected his ability to understand what he was doing on the day of his plea.” App. 75. Evidence in the record supports the court’s finding. Garren unequivocally testified that he did not understand what he was doing on the day of the plea. App. 57, l. 25 – 58, l. 3. The State failed to shake Garren on cross-examination as he testified that he did not remember anything about the guilty plea itself or telling the judge that no one had made any promises to him. App. 62, ll. 1 – 10. The only thing Garren could remember was plea counsel “Mr. Eppes come in the hallway and told me he wasn’t never going to represent me again.” App. 62, ll. 8 – 12.

The State emphasizes plea counsel’s testimony at the PCR hearing that he believed Garren was competent; however, Judge Griffith credited plea counsel’s concerns regarding Garren’s mental and physical health. App. 66, ll. 7 – 22. The PCR judge found Garren “met his burden proving trial counsel should have requested that Applicant have a psychological evaluation before Applicant plead guilty. . . .” App. 74-75. The court’s finding was reasonably based on Garren’s testimony as corroborated by portions of plea counsel’s testimony.

“The PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility are given great deference by this Court.” Goins at 573, 726 S.E.2d at 3. The PCR judge credited Garren’s testimony regarding the influence of medication. He also credited plea counsel’s testimony that Garren had mental problems and he should have ordered a psychological evaluation. App. 74-75. The PCR judge found that Garren

would not have pled guilty but for “his mental incapacity” and had he not been “under the influence of medication at the time of his plea.” App. 75.

On appeal, this Court defers to these credibility findings, which establish an involuntary guilty plea and prejudice. The PCR judge’s ruling is supported by ample evidence and this Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the PCR court should be affirmed.

David Alexander
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT